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2 Sister Maureen Craig, Sister of Charity of Leavenworth, Kansas, came to Saint John’s 

Health Center in 1987 for the specific purpose of publishing the history of the hospital. 

Since 1987, Sister Maureen has been the hospital archivist, assisted patients, served on 

the hospital Board of Trustees and became chaplain of the Saint John’s Physicians 

Alumni Association (since 1997) and several other groups associated with the hospital. 

Sister Maureen joined the Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth in 1953 and took her vows in 

1955. Her college major was in English with a minor in History at Saint Mary College in 

Leavenworth, Kansas; the Regis College in Denver, Colorado; the University of Tulsa in 

Tulsa, Oklahoma, and Carroll College in Helena, Montana, where she held the 

appointment as Associate Professor for “Methods of Education” - and now serves as 

Professor Emeritus. 
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of Professor Emeritus at St. Mary College. 
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Foreword 

 

Due the due-diligence of Archivist, Sister Mary 

Kathleen Connelly, SCL, a most important 

document among the archives at the 

Motherhouse in Leavenworth, Kansas, was 

discovered confirming the authorization to 

construction a Catholic hospital in Santa Monica, 

California. 

 

 

With the signing4 of the authorization to 

build the Sister’s Hospital5 in Santa Monica, 

the course of events to establish Saint John’s 

Health Center finally was set into motion: “I 

know you will be please that we have 

accepted the invitation of your Archbishop6 

to establish a hospital in his archdiocese…” 

 

 

 

                                                        
4  Signed by Mother General, Mary Francesca (M.M.F.), Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth, 

Kansas, March 6, 1939. 
5 First name associated with the future hospital before it was completed. 
6 Letter to the Right Rev. Msgr. Thomas J. O’Dwyer, Los Angeles Archdiocese; reference 

mad to Cardinal John J. Cantwell, Archbishop of Los Angeles. 
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Preface 

 

How fortunate I was as an author of this historical manuscript to have 

received the sound advice of senior and experienced physicians so early 

my career. It was Dr. Blake Watson, chief of Obstetrics and Gynecology at 

Saint John’s Hospital, who first guided my thoughts in 1973 about 

acquiring the historical information about the origin of Saint John’s Health 

Center. Dr. Watson urged me to undertake the responsibility for learning 

about the importance of the skills and excellence of the medical and 

surgical staff at Saint John’s, about which he had been such a vital factor. 

The advice was offered at the black-tie dinner meeting of the Bay 

Surgical Society in West Los Angeles, where I was being installed as a new 

member. 

 

In the beginning of my research into the matters involved in the building of 

Saint John’s Hospital, I was made quite aware of the fragility of archival 

records. So many documents had been damaged or lost. It was 

imperative to protect any remaining records of this important institution. I 

learned about the financial risks that were undertaken by the Sisters of 

Charity in response to the urging of His Eminence, John J. Cantwell, 

Archbishop of Los Angeles, who supported the opinions of Drs. Louis 

Mahoney and his colleagues to create a Catholic hospital in West Los 

Angeles. 

 

Later on, I was introduced to other key doctors who were among the 

early medical staff of the hospital. They eagerly shared their memories 

about the important past issues and relationships among the Sisters, 

physicians and the hospital administration of Saint John’s. During the early 

years of World War II and despite the great shortage of construction 

materials, a brilliant medical-surgical staff was created. By the end of the 

war in 1945, the medical director and department chiefs sought new staff 

members who were highly skilled specialists in their fields and board 

certified by their respective professional academies. 

 

By 1985, great concern had been expressed about the potential loss of 

the archives. In fact as a result of the 1994 earthquake, some of the most 

important minutes of the Board and early hospital records were ruined in 

the ensuing flood that occurred. Those documents are forever lost. 

However, as a result great efforts were expended to locate and 

catalogue the most important documents and photographs from all the 

resources within Saint John’s Health Center, including the legal archives, 

papers held in administrative files, archives from the files of the Office of 

the Foundation, the private archives of the Sisters of Charity and from the 
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Motherhouse in Leavenworth, Kansas, and lastly from the treasured 

archives of the Chancery of the Archdiocese of Los Angeles that are held 

at the San Fernando Mission in San Fernando, California. With permission 

that was granted to ensure completion of this invaluable project, I was 

able to review all of the thousands of documents and to create 

appropriate digitized copies, making precious back-up copies to insure 

against future losses. By 2005, the archives had been fully digitized and 

backed up on several digital media. 

 

After the earthquake, the remaining hospital archives were decentralized 

among several locations due to the lack of available storage space. 

However, when archives are either separated or moved, there is always a 

greater risk of loss of records. In 2009, with the completion of the new Saint 

John’s In-patient hospital and Howard Keck Outpatient Center, the 

archives were retrieved and digitized, making possible the backup of all 

of the important records and past correspondence. Sister Maureen Craig 

has been instrumental in gathering the Saint John’s archives. Sister 

Kathleen Mary Connelly, SCL, assistant archivist from the Motherhouse in 

Leavenworth, Kansas, arrived to assist Sister Maureen. Lastly, Robert S. 

Sherins, MD, one of the founding members of the Saint John’s Physicians 

Alumni Association, was invited to become the third team-member of the 

Saint John’s historical and archival research team. 

 

After photographing and then digitizing all of the Saint John’s records 

held by the Sisters in Santa Monica, Sister Kathleen Mary Connelly returned 

to the Motherhouse in Leavenworth and created duplicate files that are 

now preserved at both the Motherhouse and Saint John’s Health Center. 

Additional hospital records, as well as former correspondence from Saint 

John’s dating back to 1938 were discovered at the Motherhouse. Those 

records also have been duplicated and forwarded to Sister Maureen 

Craig in Santa Monica.  

 

On July 26, 2009, His Eminence Cardinal Roger Mahony, Archbishop of Los 

Angeles, came to Saint John’s as the principal celebrant at a Mass on the 

occasion of the grand opening of the new Howard Keck Outpatient 

Center. Dr. Robert Sherins met the Archbishop at the reception following 

the Mass and explained the basis of the hospital’s archival research 

project to His Eminence. Cardinal Mahony immediately recommended 

contacting Monsignor Francis J. Weber, historian and archivist of the 

Chancery Archives of the Los Angeles Archdiocese. Those archives are 

housed at the San Fernando Mission and contain the Archdiocese records 

since the 18th century. 
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Monsignor Weber was eager to assist with this fascinating research 

project. After our first interview, Msgr. Weber arranged for the appropriate 

records to be brought from storage to the library reading room. With the 

prior recommendation from Cardinal Mahony, Monsignor Weber 

arranged for Dr. Robert Sherins to be admitted to the Archdiocese library 

at the San Fernando Mission. Each day Father Weber and Dr. Sherins 

convened to discuss the history of Saint John’s and the relevant 

documents contained in the Chancery archives. The records proved 

invaluable, filling in many gaps in the correspondence between Saint 

John’s, the physicians of the early medical staff, the Sisters of Charity of 

Leavenworth and letters of support from His Eminence, John J. Cantwell, 

Archbishop of Los Angeles during the time of the inception of the hospital 

planning in Santa Monica (1938). Father Weber is a renowned and well- 

published historian and his generous advice were extremely helpful. 

Msgr. Frances J. Weber with Dr. Robert Sherins, 

Chancery Library, San Fernando Mission 
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Introduction 

 

 

Entrepreneurial Landownership in California 
 

An overview of the history of the city of Santa Monica and surrounding 

regions, which preceded the construction of the “Sister’s Hospital,” should 

be included with this narrative. There were several preceding eras that 

directly affected the prosperity of the Southern California region 

(specifically Santa Monica) and the special need for building a new 

Catholic hospital that motivated the Archbishop of Los Angeles and the 

several physicians, who were so eager to suggest this ambitious project to 

the Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth in Kansas. 

 

There is an old saying that “land is the basis of all wealth.” The quote is 

attributed to the Scottish moral philosopher, Adam Smith (1723-1790). He 

authored: “The Theory of Moral Sentiments” and “An Inquiry into the 

Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations.” The extensive exploration of 

the California coastline in the 16th century and the expansion of European 

colonial rule over settlements in the Americas suffice as an excellent 

example of the attainment of wealth from new land. 

 

During the 18th century, King Carlos III of Spain invested in both the 

explorations and settlements of Alta (Upper) California in order to limit the 

extent of the claims of the Russians, British and French monarchies as they 

attempted to derive commercial benefits of the Pacific Northwest and 

particularly in Northern California.  

 

King Carlos recognized the threat from the Russian establishments in Sitka, 

Alaska, and Fort Ross, California, in their attempt to gain control over the 

Pacific Northwest and California commerce, and in particular for a 

monopoly on obtaining fur pelts. Therefore, Spain became the first major 

European power to gain major control over the Pacific Coast region. 

Between the dates of 1774 and 1791, Spanish explorations were funded in 

Upper California and Spanish Catholic Missions were established from San 

Diego to the San Francisco Bay area. 

 

While the primary purpose of the Spanish settlements may have been the 

geo-political control of the Pacific Northwest, there was an aggressive 

attempt to “civilize” the native population, educate them in European 

culture and conversion to Christianity. Settlements were geographically 

far from each other, which required each colony to become self-
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sufficient. European livestock and crop seeds were imported initially from 

Mexico, but later on the settlers maintained large herds of beef and lamb, 

as well as vineyards, orchards, and fields of a variety of fruits and 

vegetables. From the agricultural products and the livestock came the 

numerous industries for manufacturing of goods from the leather, wool, 

and produce. After the Mexican War of Independence in 1821, beef 

hides were used in a commercial bartering system, wherein the hides 

were used in place of the non-existent bullion and currencies. The hides 

were called, “California dollars.” Hides funded the growth and prosperity 

of the developing California economy. Initially, only the hides were 

salvaged from the slaughter of millions of cattle; the carcasses were 

abandoned to rot in the sun. With the discovery of gold in California, the 

beef carcasses were preserved and shipped to the burgeoning mine 

fields. Hard working miners required a lot of meat protein in their diets. 

 

From 1834, newly created Mexican land grants were provided to the most 

loyal Mexican military officers and men, who had been the ardent 

supporters of Mexican Revolution and Independence against the 

overbearing Spanish Crown. The establishment of those privately held 

land grants is known as the Rancho Era of California. 

 

Francisco Sepulveda came to Los Angeles with his parents in 1781.7 He 

was the fifth of six children, born in Sinaloa, Mexico, in 1775. In 1801, 

Francisco married Maria Ramona Serrano. During the uprising against the 

Mexican Governor Victoria, he was imprisoned, but soon afterwards he 

became a commissioner at Mission San Juan Capistrano (1836). The family 

moved to the West Los Angeles area and was awarded a huge plot of 

land for his loyal services to the Mexican government. It was called the 

Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica that comprised 38,000 acres (1839). 

The land grant included all of the property between the marine area of 

Playa del Rey and Ballona Creek westward to Topanga Canyon, and 

between the Pacific coastline and the Santa Monica Mountain range.  

 

Later on, Francisco’s brother, Jose Enrique Anselmo Sepulveda received 

the grant of the Rancho San Pascual; his sister Francisca Antonia Maria 

Sepulveda married Juan Mariner, who was the original grantee of Rancho 

San Pascual; Jose Antonio Andres Sepulveda, son of Francisco Sepulveda 

and Maria Ramona Serrano received the Rancho San Joaquin, which was 

later sold to James Irvine; and Luisa Avila, daughter of Francisco Avila and 

                                                        
7 Francisco’s father was Francisco Xavier Sepulveda and his mother was Maria 

Candelaria de Redondo. 
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Maria Encarnacion Sepulveda married Manuel Garfias, who then owned 

Rancho San Pascual;  

 

Other children of Francisco Sepulveda and Maria Ramona Serrano also 

became grantees of ranchos. Maria Ramona Sepulveda, married Jose 

Agustin Antonio Machada, who was granted Rancho la Ballona; 

Fernando Domengo Sepulveda married Maria Josefa Dominguez and 

acquired Rancho San Rafael; Maria Vicenta Sepulveda married twice - 

with Tomas Antonio Yorba lived on Rancho La Sierra (part of the 

Sepulveda holdings), and with Jose Ramon Carrillo, lived on Rancho Valle 

de San Jose; and Jose del Carman Sepulveda married Maria Josefa 

Gallardo and they sold Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica to Colonel 

Robert Symington Baker in 1872. 

 

Jose Loreto Sepulveda became Mayor of Los Angeles from 1837 to 1848. 

He was granted the Rancho de los Palos Verdes.  

 

Some of the other Sepulveda family members did not receive land grants, 

but many of them became politically active, serving in various official 

capacities. Juan Capistrano Sepulveda became Mayor of Los Angeles in 

1842 and later served on the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors in 

1854. He received the land grant for Rancho de los Palos Verdes. Juan 

Maria Sepulveda served as the Los Angeles County Assessor in 1857-1858. 

Many of the Rancho grantees and their children married among the other 

famous Spanish families of rancho owners, politicians, and entrepreneurs, 

whose names included: Alanis, Dominquez, Gallardo, Alvarado, etc. 

 

Adjoining Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica was a smaller Mexican 

land grant, 6,656 acres, which was given by Governor Juan Alvarado to 

Ysidro Reyes and Francisco Marquez (1849). It was appropriately named, 

Rancho Boca de Santa Monica. This plot comprised what is now known as 

Santa Monica Canyon and the adjacent areas of Pacific Palisades and 

part of Topanga Canyon. Francisco Marquez was a blacksmith and with 

his wife, Roque Valenzuela, built their adobe home and worked their 

ranch until he died in 1850. The Marquez family private cemetery plots 

remain in an isolated region of the canyon. 

 

The Reyes family served very early and important roles under both the 

Spanish and Mexican authorities in California. Juan Francisco Reyes, who 

was born in Mexico in 1769, joined the Spanish army and served in 

Monterey and San Luis Obispo. He served as a soldier on the 1769 Portola 

land expedition to colonize and establish missions in Alta California, which 

was accompanied by Father Junipero Serra and an army surgeon, Dr. 
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Pedro Prat. As a result of his loyal efforts for Spain, Juan Francisco received 

a land grant, Rancho Los Encinos, in the San Fernando Valley, where he 

worked as a cattle rancher. It was decided by the Spanish governor to 

locate Mission San Fernando on the property of Rancho Los Encinos; so 

instead, Reyes was given a new land grand located between San Luis 

Obispo and Mission La Purisima Concepcion in Lompoc. From 1793-1795, 

Francisco Reyes served as mayor of the Los Angeles Pueblo.  

 

In the next generation, one of Francisco Reyes’ three children, Jose 

Jacinto Reyes married and had fourteen children. However, he died at 

the early age of 49. One of those fourteen children, Jose Ysidro Reyes, 

lived in Los Angeles, where he entered business. He owned a large 

vineyard and a company that transported tar from Rancho La Brea to 

local homes. 

 

Later on, Ysidro Reyes married Maria Antonia Villa and lived in the area of 

the Huntington Palisades. When Ysidro died, Maria Antonia inherited the 

Reyes’ half interest in the Rancho Boca de Santa Monica that had been 

co-owned with Francisco Marquez. Maria Antonia Reyes soon sold her 

half interest in the Rancho to investor and entrepreneur, Robert S. Baker 

(1874). A lawsuit by Baker against the heirs of the Marquez family failed to 

gain him the remaining Marquez’ half interest in the Rancho. In 1920, 

however, both Baker and Marquez families sold the rancho land to 

Senator John P. Jones. 

 

As will be discussed in a later chapter of this manuscript, the Orchard Tract 

of Santa Monica, where Saint John’s Health Center was built, was part of 

the original Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica. The Rancho was 

purchased by Robert Baker and later owned by his wife, Arcadia Bandini 

de Stearns de Baker. Later on, Senator John P. Jones purchased a half-

interest in the property. After the death of Robert Baker, they incorporated 

the City of Santa Monica in 1875. Jones served as the first Mayor. It was 

Arcadia de Baker and Senator Jones, who subdivided Santa Monica, 

gifted the Palisades Park along Ocean Avenue, as well as the property 

that became the National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers (now 

called the Greater Los Angeles Veterans Regional Center. They first sub-

divided the Bentwood Park area (Wilshire and San Vicente Blvds), 

creating attractive real estate lots for private residences. In 1942, Saint 

John’s Hospital was built on the property of the Golden State Plant and 

Floral Company, established in 1903 on the Orchard Tract, 20th Street and 

Santa Monica Blvd. 
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“Land is the basis of all wealth…” 
 

There is an old saying that “…land is the basis of all wealth.” The quote 

from Scottish moral philosopher and economist, Adam Smith (1723-1790), 

who wrote, “The Theory of Moral Sentiments” and “The Wealth of Nations.” 

The extensive exploration of the California coastline in the 16th century 

and the expansion of European colonial rule over settlements in the 

Americas are excellent examples of the attainment of wealth by land 

ownership in the New World. 

 

I discovered some of the finest examples of pioneering spirit in America 

while researching this book. California Ranchos first were settled by 

rugged hard-working Spanish and Mexican grantees. They took financial 

risks and established their homes, ranches, vineyards and orchards 

throughout California. Their success created the private leadership in 

establishing California cities and towns, agribusiness, mining, ranching 

livestock, railroad and ocean shipping, industry and education. California 

became the eighth largest economy in the world. Among the settlers 

were visionaries, who realized the potential for California agriculture to 

support the expanding population, minefields, and to provide exports to 

the nation. Some of the nation’s finest universities, medical schools, and 

veteran’s healthcare are located in California. The origin and evolution of 

the James W Wadsworth Veterans Hospital in West Los Angeles, now 

called the VA Greater Los Angeles Healthcare System, was the result of 

the consequences of several exceptional characters in the history of 

California. 

 

It is the purpose of the author to document this rich California history by 

publishing this manuscript and preserving it among many of the reference 

libraries in Southern and Northern California. By so doing, the information 

will be conserved and discoverable by future researchers and scholars.  

 

Eventually, I reached back to the time of the first Spanish explorations of 

Alta (Upper) California, specifically 1542 when explorer Hernán Cortéz sent 

Juan Rodríguez Cabrillo to explore the California coastline. Et voilà, it 

seemed to me that there was an historical thread that explained the 

consequences of the events that led to the evolution of the West Los 

Angeles community. It was the acquisition of land and the good purposes 

to which the land was applied that were the foundation of the 

development of Santa Monica and West Los Angeles. 

 

From the 16th century, Spanish interest in the exploration of Alta California 

and the Pacific routes linked to the Orient generated vigorous exploration 
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of North America. During the 18th century, King Carlos III of Spain invested 

in both the explorations and settlements of Alta California in order to limit 

the extent of the claims for California land by the Russians, British and 

French monarchies as they attempted to derive commercial benefits, 

particularly in fur trapping, from the territories of the Pacific Northwest 

including Northern California. 

 

Before the American colonies in the eastern part of the continent 

became a nation, King Carlos recognized the potential territorial threats 

from the Russian settlements owned in Sitka, Alaska, the Aleutian Islands, 

and Fort Ross, California. In addition to fur trading, the Tsar sent scientists 

to explore the new regions for knowledge about the geology and 

minerals, as well as to discover new species of flora and fauna. But Alaska 

and the Pacific Northwest regions were huge distances from the throne in 

St. Petersburg. Supplying and feeding the explorers and trappers were 

critical problems, as were the severe weather, injuries and hostilities. 

 

A commercial corporation with venture capital from the sale of company 

shares to private investors was formed: the Russian-American Company8. 

Tsar Paul I owned a majority of the shares. However, the Russian 

adventure was unsuccessful and the Tsar was forced to suspend 

commercial activities. In 1867, The United States purchased over one-half 

million acres of the Alaska territory from the Russians, who were anxious to 

receive at least some financial return from the unsuccessful business 

venture. Alaska was purchased after the death of Tsar Paul I. The U.S. 

Treasury check for $7.2 million was paid to the next Tsar, Alexander II. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                        
8 In 1799, the company Charter was provided by the Tsar Paul I. 
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Northern California Coastline from San Francisco to Fort Ross in 

Mendocino County9 (upper left) 

 

 
Aerial Map Coastline/Fort Ross, California10 

                                                        
9 http://www.google.com/maps 
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Storehouse, Fort Ross, California 

Photograph: Robert S. Sherins, MD 

 

 
Russian Orthodox Church, Fort Ross, California 

Photograph: Robert S. Sherins, MD 

                                                                                                                                                                     
10 Ibid. 
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Era of Spanish Missions and Ranchos in Alta11 California 

 

Spain became the first nation to colonize California, by exploring; funding 

mapping expeditions; establishing forts (presidios) and settlements 

(pueblos); providing land grants for extensive ranching to loyal Spanish 

colonists; and establishing Catholic missions in Alta (Upper) California 

between 1769 and 1875. Spain established 21 Catholic Missions and 

settlements in California, which zealously converted most of the native 

inhabitants to Christianity. By so doing, other foreign powers, such as 

Russia, England, France and the Netherlands, essentially were kept out of 

California. From 1812 to 1841, the Russian fortress in Ross (Northern 

California) produced food for the livestock and population, built ships and 

maintained a small garrison. Ross, the shortened Russian name for Rossiya, 

was the southern-most Russian settlement in the Pacific Northwest. Ross 

produced some agricultural products for the fur-trading colonies in the 

Aleutian Islands and Alaska. However, 

most of the food supplies were 

needed to feed the local Ross 

garrison and farmers. The 

northernmost Spanish settlements 

were in the San Francisco Bay area 

and Sonoma, so there was minimal 

contact between the two 

communities. 

 

 

 

 

Map of Spanish Missions & Pueblos 

http://upload.wikimedia.org/ 

 

 

 

  

Spain had considerably more success 

than the Russians in the Pacific. While 

the primary purpose of the Spanish 

settlements was the geo-political 

control of California coastline and the 

Pacific Northwest, there was an 

aggressive attempt to “Christianize” 

                                                        
11 Upper California. 
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the native population and expose them to European culture. In fact, 

much of the native population suffered and died from European diseases, 

to which they had no immunity, such as smallpox. Settlements were far 

from each other. Each colony had to become self-sufficient. European 

livestock and crop seeds were imported initially from Mexico, but later on 

the settlers maintained large herds of beef and lamb, as well as 

considerable agriculture. New vineyards, orchards, and fields of fruits and 

vegetables emerged, as well as numerous industries for manufacturing 

from leather, wool, and produce. After the Mexican War of 

Independence from Spain in 1821, the newly established Mexican 

government was nearly bankrupt, so the cowhides were used in place of 

non-existent bullion and currency. The hides were called, “California 

dollars.” 

 

Hides funded the early growth and prosperity of the developing California 

economy. Initially, only the hides were salvaged from the slaughter of 

millions of cattle and sheep; the carcasses were abandoned to rot in the 

sun. However, with the discovery of gold in California, the meat was 

preserved and shipped to the burgeoning mine fields. Hard-working 

miners required a lot of meat protein in their diets. 

 

After 1821, the newly created Mexican government continued to award 

land grants to the most loyal Mexican military officers and enlisted men 

who had been ardent supporters of the Mexican Revolution and 

Independence from Spain. The establishment of those privately held land 

grants was known as the Rancho Era of California. 

 

During the Rancho Era, the Sepulveda family became one of the most 

influential in Southern California. Land wealth was concentrated among 

only a few families, whose children often intermarried with the other 

families. This in turn, greatly influenced the development in the region. As 

a family the Sepúlvedas became wealthy grantees of several Ranchos, 

with combined ownership totaling about 200,000 acres. Not all Sepulveda 

members became grantees; others became important politicians and 

civic leaders. 

 

Francisco Xavier Sepúlveda was born in 1775 in Sinaloa, Mexico. His 

parents, Juan José and Maria Tomasa (Gutierrez) Sepúlveda, immigrated 

to Los Angeles in 1781.12 Francisco was the fifth of six children of this 

prominent Spanish-Mexican family. Francisco became a distinguished 

                                                        
12 Francisco’s father was Francisco Xavier Sepulveda and his mother was Maria 

Candelaria de Redondo. 
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officer in the Spanish army in California. In 1801, he married Maria Ramona 

Serrano. He was imprisoned during the 1831 uprising against the Mexican 

Governor Victoria, who had secularized the California missions. After 

Sepúlveda was released from prison, he was appointed by the new 

governor, Pio Pico, commissioner of Mission San Juan Capistrano, (1836). 

 

Francisco Sepulveda was awarded an immense plot of land for his loyal 

services to the Mexican government. The Land Grant, Rancho San 

Vicente y Santa Monica, comprised over 38,000 acres (1839). The grant 

included all of the property between the Marina del Rey and Ballona 

Creek westward to Topanga Canyon, and between the Pacific coastline 

and the Santa Monica Mountain range. 

 

 

Diseños of California Ranchos13 

 

 
California Land Grant Register14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                        
13 Mexican Land Grants. 
14 University of California, Bancroft Library. 
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Diseño de Santa Hermonica (Santa Monica), 1846 
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Aerial Map, Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica 

 

 
Land Grant Map of the Los Angeles Basin15 

                                                        
15 Map: U.S. Bureau of Land Management 
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Through many marriages, especially with other prominent 

Spanish/Mexican families in Southern California, the Sepúlveda family, 

their children and grandchildren became wealthy grantees of several 

Ranchos: 
 
Rancho San Pasqual (13,694 acres) was originally granted to Mexican 

Lieutenant Juan Mariné in 1831. The rancho land later became the cities 

of Pasadena and Altadena. When Mariné died in 1838, the property was 

granted to José Pérez and Enriqué Sepúlveda. After Pérez died in 1841 

and Enriqué Sepulveda died in 1843, Lieutenant Manuel Garfias (Mexican 

Army) received the Rancho (1843). Garfias married Louisa Sepúlveda 

Avila, daughter of Francisco Avila and Maria Encarnacion Sepúlveda, 

who already were the grantees of Rancho Las Cienegas. 

 

 
 

Diseño16 Rancho San Joaquin 48,803 acres combined Rancho Las 

Cienegas and Rancho Bolsa de San Joaquin: Pasadena and East Bank of 

the Arroyo Seco17 

                                                                                                                                                                     
 
16 Diseño is a Land Grant. 
17 Robert E. Young Research Library, UCLA Department of Special Collections. 
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Diseño Rancho San Pasqual: Pasadena & East Bank of the Arroyo Seco18 

 José Antonio Andres Sepúlveda, son of Francisco Sepúlveda and 

Maria Ramona Serrano received the Rancho San Joaquin, which 

was later sold to James Irvine. The property consisted of the 

combined Rancho Las Cienegas and Bolsa de San Joaquin, which 

today includes Irvine, the San Joaquin Hills, Newport Beach and 

Laguna Beach, and the Irvine Ranch. 

 

 Maria Ramona Sepúlveda married José Agustin Antonio Machada, 

who was granted Rancho la Ballona (13,920 acres) in 1839. The 

property covered an area that today is Venice, Culver City and 

West Los Angeles along the Santa Monica Bay. 

 

                                                        
18 Robert E. Young Research Library, UCLA Department of Special Collections. 
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Diseño Rancho La Ballona19 

 

 

 

 

 Fernando Domingo Sepúlveda married Maria Josefa Dominguez 

and acquired Rancho San Rafael; Rancho San Rafael encompasses 

Glendale east of the Glendale Freeway (Frwy-2), Highland Park, 

Eagle Rock, York Valley, Casa Verdugo and much of Burbank. 

 

                                                        
19 Robert E. Young Research Library, UCLA Department of Special Collections. 
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Street Map Rancho San Rafael 

 

 Captain Pablo de Portillo was granted Rancho Valle de San José in 

1839 (17,634 acres). In 1858, Silvestre de la Portilla sold Rancho Valle 

de San Jose to Vicenta Sepulveda de Carrillo. 

  

 
Diseño Rancho Valle de San José20 

                                                        
20 Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley. 
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Diseño Rancho Valle de San José21 

 

 Rancho Los Palos Verdes (31,629 acres) was deeded to Juan 

Capistrano Sepúlveda in 1846 and to José Loreto Sepúlveda in 1859. 

The property encompassed Palos Verdes Peninsula and parts of 

Torrance and San Pedro. 

  

 
Diseño Rancho Los Palos Verdes22 

                                                        
21 http://www.google.com/maps 
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 Rancho La Sierra (Rancho La Sierra de Santa Ana, 17,769-acre) was 

sold to Maria Vicenta Sepúlveda, who married José Ramon Carrillo. 

Maria Vicenta Sepúlveda second married Tomas Antonio Yorba. 

They lived on Rancho La Sierra. 

 

 
Diseño La Sierra  (1846) - 17,769 acres23 

 

                                                                                                                                                                     
22 Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley. 
23 Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley. 
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 Jose del Carman Sepúlveda married Maria Josefa Gallardo and 

they sold Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica to Colonel Robert 

Symington Baker in 1872. 

José Loreto Sepúlveda became Mayor of Los Angeles from 1837 to 1848. 

He was granted the Rancho de los Palos Verdes. Some of the other 

Sepulveda family members did not receive land grants, but many of them 

became politically active, serving in various official capacities. Juan 

Capistrano Sepúlveda became Mayor of Los Angeles in 1842 and later 

served on the Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors in 1854. He 

eventually received the land grant for Rancho de los Palos Verdes. Juan 

Maria Sepúlveda served as the Los Angeles County Assessor in 1857-1858. 

 

The Sepúlvedas were not the only land barons. A smaller land grant of 

6,656 acres, Rancho Boca de Santa Monica, located within the 

boundaries of Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica, was deeded by 

Governor Juan Alvarado to Ysidro Reyes and Francisco Marquez in 1849. 

This plot comprised what is now known as Santa Monica Canyon, the 

estuary of the local river outlet to the Pacific Ocean, and the adjacent 

town of Pacific Palisades. Francisco Marquez was a blacksmith and with 

his wife, Roque Valenzuela, built their adobe home and worked their 

ranch until he died in 1850. The Marquez private family cemetery remains 

secluded in the canyon. 

 
Rancho Boca de Santa Monica 

Santa Monica Canyon, circa 1890 (USC Digital Library) 
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The Reyes family served early and important roles under both the Spanish 

and Mexican authorities in California. Juan Francisco Reyes, born in 

Mexico in 1769, joined the Spanish army and served in Monterey and San 

Luis Obispo. He also served as a soldier on the 1769 Portola land 

expedition to colonize and establish missions in Alta California. Father 

Junipero Serra and an army surgeon, Dr. Pedro Prat, accompanied the 

Spanish explorer, Gaspar de Portolá. For his loyal services, Juan Francisco 

Reyes received a land grant in the San Fernando Valley, Rancho Los 

Encinos, where he established a cattle ranch. Reyes was given a new 

land grant located between San Luis Obispo and Mission La Purisima 

Concepcion in Lompoc. From 1793-1795, Francisco Reyes served as 

mayor of the Los Angeles Pueblo. 

 

In the next generation, one of Francisco Reyes’ three children, José 

Jacinto Reyes married and had fourteen children before dying at age 49. 

One of the children, José Ysidro Reyes, became a successful entrepreneur 

in Los Angeles, running a large vineyard and a company that transported 

tar from Rancho La Brea to local homes. 

 

Ysidro Reyes married Maria Antonia Villa and lived in the Huntington 

Palisades area. When Ysidro died, Maria Antonia inherited the Reyes’ half 

interest in the Rancho Boca de Santa Monica that had been co-owned 

with Francisco Marquez. 

 

Maria Antonia Reyes soon sold her half interest in the Rancho to Colonel 

Robert S. Baker (1874). A lawsuit by Baker against the heirs of the Marquez 

family failed to gain him the remaining Marquez’ half interest in the 

Rancho. In 1920, however, both Baker and Marquez families sold the 

rancho land to Nevada Senator John P. Jones. 
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Palisadian-Post Newspaper 

Pacific Palisades, California 

[Circa 2007] 
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Palisadian Post Newspaper 

Pacific Palisades, California 

[Circa 2007] 

 

 

Contributors to the Successful Evolution of West Los Angeles 
 

Now I wish to focus upon the achievements of several unique individuals, 

whose actions enabled spectacular growth in California. The Sepúlveda 

families were among the earliest ranchers in California and established 

huge ranchos. The Wolfskill families were similarly successful in Northern 

and Southern California. They all conveyed properties to their heirs and in 

turn to non-family owners, who continued to improve the land and enrich 

their communities. They possessed enormous entrepreneurial talents, 

inspiration, and foresight that helped their communities to advance. This 

should not be considered a lack of appreciation for the efforts of others, 

but recognition of the vast benefits incurred from the few who facilitated 

the most successful ventures whose consequences directly effected the 

establishment of the James W. Wadsworth Veterans Hospital. The actions 

of the following individuals represent the finest examples of the benefits 

that can be derived from free enterprise. 
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In this chapter, I will explore the biographical history of the following 

special individuals: 

 Colonel Robert Symington Baker 

 Arcadia Bandini de Stearns de Baker 

 Nevada Senator John Percival Johns 

 

Colonel Robert Symington Baker 

 

Col. Robert Symington Baker was one of 

California’s 49’ers. He arrived from Rhode Island 

in 1849, but unlike so many fortune seekers, he 

was not a gold/silver miner. He was a business 

entrepreneur and first settled in San Francisco. 

Col. Baker joined a mining-supply venture and 

created the Cooke & Baker Company. His 

extensive travels throughout California brought 

him in contact with another pioneer and 

business entrepreneur, General Edward 

Fitzgerald Beale. The intersection of the efforts 

of Beale and Baker resulted in several ventures 

that led to the economic success of West Los 

Angeles. 

 

Born to another branch of the Baker family of 

early English colonists in North America, was Thomas Baker [Sr.]. He fought 

in the Revolutionary War for Independence from England and the War of 

1812. He had a son also named Thomas Baker, [Jr.], who became a 

lawyer interested in land and real estate issues. The Baker family moved 

on to Illinois and Iowa, but those territories were extremely dangerous 

following Indian uprisings. Thomas Baker, [Jr.] served on the first legislature 

and was elected lieutenant governor of Iowa. Thomas Baker [Jr.] played 

an important, but indirect, role in California history that led to the 

development of West Los Angeles and Santa Monica. There was also a 

fascinating interconnection of the historical roles played by several of the 

characters described in this book. 

 

Early California History 

 

After his wife died, Thomas packed up with his four children and set out for 

California. He was hoping to find “…gold in them thar hills.” In 1852, 

Thomas and children arrived in Benecia and then proceeded to Stockton. 

He arrived in Tulare County in 1852, where he helped establish the town of 
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Visalia with another colleague named Vise. Within a decade, Thomas 

Baker was elected to the California State Senate. During the next 

decade, Baker remarried and they moved south to Kern. Thomas wasted 

no time in arranging to purchase 400,000 acres of swampland along the 

Kern River. He imported Native Americans and Mexican laborers to drain 

the swamp, thereby creating a huge plot of arable land. 

 

Baker harvested alfalfa as feed for his neighbor’s livestock. Baker’s field 

was the place that travelers stopped to graze their animals, hence the 

establishment of the modern town of Bakersfield; “…land is the basis of all 

wealth...” As an educated surveyor, Thomas designed the streets and 

properties of the town, as well as the roads that would lead up the Baker 

Grade over the mountains toward Southern California. He died of 

pneumonia in 1872. 

 

A relative from Rhode Island, Colonel Robert Symington Baker, arrived in 

California about the same time (1849) as Thomas Baker. The Rhode Island 

Baker’s were well established on the East coast. Robert Baker met U.S. 

General Edward Fitzgerald Beale, owner of the Tejon Ranch in Kern 

County. It was Beale who encouraged Baker to visit Santa Monica to 

appraise the potential for land development. 

 

Let’s briefly review some of the early history of the Tejon-Bakersfield region. 

In 1769, Spanish Explorer Gaspar de Portola arrived in the region of Santa 

Clarita, of the Tejon area. He named the local river for St. Clare. By 1804, 

the Spaniards returned to Santa Clarita and created an agricultural 

outpost to provide support for travelers on the route northward that 

connected the Spanish missions. 

 

The Santa Clarita outpost was located nearby Lake Castaic, now 

renamed Lake Tejon, which was located closer to Mission San Fernando, 

in San Fernando Valley, Los Angeles County. A little known fact: gold was 

first discovered here on March 9, 1842, by a local Mexican mineralogist, 

José Francisco de Garcia Lopez, who noted fragments of gold lying along 

a tree root. But, due to the Mexican War of Independence from Spain, this 

finding of gold was not publicized. 

 

In 1852, following the California gold rush, U.S. General Edward Beale 

became the new Superintendant of Indian Affairs. He held this post from 

1852-1854, establishing the Sebastian Indian Reservation of 75,000 acres in 

Kern County, where Fort Tejon was established. Butterfield Stage Coach 

service stopped at the Fort. By 1858, road service was completed from 

Fort Tejon to Fort Banning (San Pedro), a 32-hour spine-jarring haul over 
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one hundred miles of rough roads. Telegraph service arrived in 1860. While 

these vital connections would eventually link Tejon with Bakersfield and 

the Port Santa Monica, General Beale was privately purchasing and 

organizing four individual land-grant parcels, which he merged into the 

entity, Tejon Ranch. 

 

General Beale was ordered to enlarge the route over the Newhall Pass 

(1860) that would improve vital road transportation over the mountains to 

the coast. Having fought against General Andres Pico in the War 

between Mexico and the United States, General Beale now allied himself 

with Pico to build the pass. They also engaged an oil engineer, French 

immigrant Charles Mentry, to assist in exploration for petroleum. Within a 

year (1876), they were pumping 30 barrels of oil daily. It was the first oil 

production in California. The Pioneer Oil Refinery was establish in 1876, 

another first in California. 

 

Charles Crocker, Chairman of the Southern Pacific Railroad Company, 

opened the first railroad over the Tehachapi Mountains. This linked 

Bakersfield and Santa Clarita. When completed, the gold and silver 

minefields in the Sierras connected to the Long Wharf at Santa Monica 

Bay. 

 

 
Stage (1858) and Rail (1876) Roads to Santa Monica, Port of Los Angeles 
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After being appointed Minister to Austria-Hungary, Beale returned to 

California as a cattle rancher in Kern County (1880). The Southern Pacific 

Railroad had been completed over the Tehachapi Mountains and a 

“Beale” station established in Soledad Canyon. During the same time, 

road and rail links were being established between Bakersfield, the San 

Joaquin Valley and the Port of Los Angeles at Santa Monica Bay, 

 

Col. Robert Symington Baker in Santa Monica 

 

Col. Baker was brought to Santa Monica by Gen. Beale to see for himself 

the potential opportunities available for developing Santa Monica/West 

Los Angeles real estate. Timing is the essence of great business ventures. 

The heirs of the Sepúlveda estate also were considering the sale of the 

Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica after decades of prolonged 

draughts, increasing overhead costs and decreasing prices for cowhides 

as the meat and leather markets became saturated. Negotiations were 

concluded in 1872. Baker purchased Rancho San Vicente y Santa 

Monica, (38,409-acre parcel for $54,000 - $1.41 per acre) from Jose del 

Carman Sepúlveda and his wife, Maria Josefa Gallard, heirs to the Don 

Francisco Sepúlveda estate. 
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Diseño, Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica24 

 

Despite the agricultural economic difficulties after decades of draught, 

entrepreneurs like Baker foresaw the grow of California from the profitable 

gold and silver mining, the establishment of railroads and successful 

shipping via the Port of Los Angeles in Santa Monica. Baker was a 

determined visionary, who possessed the uncanny skill of being in the right 

place at the right time. He capitalized on the water supply from the spring 

located at the present-day University High School that produced 150,000 

gallons of potable water daily. Baker was a developer, not a rancher. He 

didn’t depend upon water for agribusiness. Water would be used for 

urban growth and to entice buyers to purchase real estate in his sub-

divisions of Santa Monica. In addition, Baker understood the strategic 

economic importance of the railroads and shipping via Santa Monica 

Bay, which transported vital goods and food to Northern California 

minefields. Passengers and goods arrived at the “long wharf” having 

sailed around Cape Horn at the southern tip of Tierra del Fuego, or were 

transshipped over roads in Panama (from the Caribbean to the Pacific 

                                                        
24 The Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley 

http://bancroft.berkeley.edu/ 
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Coast), reloaded to other ships and further transported to Santa Monica. 

Santa Monica became the western gateway to the rest of America 

through both its seaport and new Intercontinental Railroad for Europe, 

Central and South America, and Asia. “ 

 

Col. Baker was a very eligible bachelor in the mid-19th century; he was 

handsome, educated, professional and brilliant. As a former Eastern 

capitalist, Baker brought astute business acumen to California. It was only 

a matter of time before he was introduced to the Spanish elite, as well as 

to other prominent investors and businessmen. Baker was a capitalist of 

the first order. Soon after arrival in Santa Monica (1872) he met and 

married Arcadia Bandini de Stearns (1874). Together, they changed the 

entire business climate of Santa Monica and West Los Angeles. They 

acted together, combining their enormous wealth to develop the 

community for the better and forever. The biography of this remarkable 

woman is summarized below. 

 

“…Land is the basis of all wealth…” 

 

 

Arcadia Bandini de Stearns de Baker 

 

As background, Arcadia was the second daughter of three born to Juan 

Bandini and Josefa Carrillo. Bandini and Carrillo were prominent early 

members of the Spanish community in California, both having served 

during the Mexican War of Independence from Spain. Arcadia’s 

grandfather José Bandini (Italian origins) lived in Andalusia, Spain. José 

worked as a Master Sea Captain, which brought the family to Peru. Their 

son (Arcadia’s father), Juan, also a sailor, arrived in California in 1919. They 

settled in San Diego. 

 

Juan became involved in California politics as a Mexican congressman 

and participated in the revolt against the oppressive policies of Mexican 

Governor Victoria. Starting in 1836, Juan purchased the Tecate Rancho 

on the San Diego-Mexico border; was appointed administrator of the San 

Gabriel Mission by Governor Alvarado; and was granted several 

additional ranchos, Jurupa, Rincon and Cajon de Muscaplabe, in 

addition to land in San Juan Capistrano. He served as Secretary to 

Governor Pio Pico and provided supplies to the Mexican troops in the 

Mexican-American War of 1846-1848. 

 

Juan had been involved in expensive business ventures since he arrived in 

California. However, most of projects failed forcing him to seek financial 
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support from friends. Abel Stearns, a Jewish businessman from 

Massachusetts, arrived in California after a storm diverted the ship he 

travelled to San Diego. He and Juan became close friends and staunch 

political allies opposed the repressive Mexican Governor, Victoria. Abel 

Stearns, an astute businessman, assumed Juan’s debts and saved the 

estate from bankruptcy. As a result, the Bandini became successful. 

 

Juan offered his 14-year old daughter, Arcadia, 

in marriage to the 43-year old Stearns. She was 

intelligent, well educated and beautiful and 

also had a sizable dowry. Stearns converted to 

Catholicism and the couple married in 1839. 

 

Stearns purchased Rancho Los Alamitos near 

Seal Beach and presented it to his wife and 

also purchased El Dorado, an adobe estate in 

Los Angeles, at Main and Arcadia Streets. It was 

a happy marriage and they were socially 

prominent until 1871, when Abel Stearns died. 

 

In 1872, Col. Robert S. Baker had arrived in 

Santa Monica to negotiate the purchase of the 

Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica from the 

Sepulveda heirs. Baker was an eligible bachelor; the widow Arcadia was 

an acclaimed beauty. Both were 48. She married Baker, a second land 

baron, in 1874 becoming Arcadia Bandini de Stearns de Baker. 

 

Childless, Arcadia poured her considerable knowledge into business. She 

became a land baroness and a proto-feminist. With Baker, they 

developed the property of newly acquired Rancho San Vicente y Santa 

Monica. Within two years (1874), half of the rancho was sold to Nevada 

Senator and Comstock Mine multi-millionaire owner, John Percival Jones. 

Jones paid $162,000 for the 18,204-acre share of the rancho - $8.90 per 

acre. This was capitalism at its best, $108,000 profit for half the property in 

just two years. Amazingly, within one more year (1875), the trio sub-divided 

the property to attract new businesses and residents; built a mile-long 

wharf into Santa Monica Bay; created the city of Santa Monica; and 

became the principle developers of West Los Angeles, most of which had 

been primarily used for agriculture. In January 1875, they also 

incorporated the Los Angeles and Independent Railroad. At lightning 

speed, the line was completed to the end of the wharf in Santa Monica 

Bay - all within ten months. 

 



 

 

 

49 

To eliminate risks of debt from other investments in 1887, Baker sold the 

remainder of his land to Arcadia. She continued business ventures directly 

with Senator Jones. Arcadia was widowed for the second time, her 

husband dying in 1894. She was the most wealthy and influential woman 

in Southern California, from her dowry and the estates of both Stearns and 

Baker. In 1897, Arcadia and Senator Jones established the Santa Monica 

Land and Water Company. The stock 

was eventually sold to Robert Gillis in 

1904. Together they and Gillis 

developed properties in Santa 

Monica, Westgate, and Brentwood 

Park. They developed Pacific 

Palisades, the Riviera, Canyon Mesa, 

Canyon Vista, and Bel Air.25 Additional 

land along the bluffs at Ocean 

Avenue was donated to Santa 

Monica for a city park. Robert Gillis, 

Santa Monica Land & Water 

Company, 190426 

 

                                                        
25 Jan Loomis, “Images of America - Pacific Palisades,” Arcadia Publishing, San 

Francisco, 2009. 
26 Ibid. 
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Angeles Daily Times Newspaper Advertisements 1905 
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Angeles Daily Times Newspaper Advertisements 1905 

 

 
Aerial View of Santa Monica, 1922 

http://digitallibrary.usc.edu 
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Santa Monica, Plat Map 1875 
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Doña Arcadia Bandini de Stearns de Baker died in 1912 at the age of 86. 

She left many successful business ventures and the wealth from economic 

development including the legacy of the land upon which the Pacific 

Branch of the National Home for Disabled Veterans was located. As will 

be written in other chapters of this book, the land provided for the 

veterans became the legacy that not only changed how future veterans 

would be cared for, but also established the basis upon which the 

medical education would evolve in West Los Angeles. 

 

The Bakers donated a 26-acre parcel along the Palisades at Ocean 

Avenue as a park for Santa Monica. 

 

 
Palisades Park, Santa Monica, California 

Gifted by Arcadia de Baker and Senator John P. Jones 
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Right: Statue of Arcadia Bandini de 

Stearns de Baker, Palisades Park, Santa 

Monica, California.27 The face of this very 

intelligent and visionary land baroness 

was placed for all to remember her 

legacy. Sculpted by Masahito Sanar and 

dedicated to Arcadia Bandini de Baker, 

it is displayed in the Rose Garden of 

Palisades Park, Santa Monica, on the 

land she donated to the city. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In 1887, the Board of Managers of the National Home for Disabled 

Volunteer Soldiers, created by Lincoln, met in San Francisco to establish a 

Pacific Home Branch for veterans west of the Rocky Mountains. Arcadia 

de Baker and her partner, Senator John Percival Jones, pursued 

development of their rancho in Santa Monica and Brentwood. The first 

project was Westgate real estate adjacent to the planned National 

Home. They realized that there was potential for enormous profits from 

development of West Los Angeles and Santa Monica where National 

Home’ employees would need homes in the region. Many cities were 

under consideration by the Board of Managers. With an initial offer of 600-

acres from Rancho property, and $50,000 to help defer expected costs 

from construction of the National Home, the Managers were not certain 

about the Brentwood site. Arcadia and Jones next sought help from John 

Wolfskill, who agreed to provide and an additional 300-acre parcel from 

Rancho San Jose de Buenos Ayres located adjacent to the Sepulveda 

Boulevard border with Rancho San Vicente y Santa Monica. In addition, 

Wolfskill “sweetened” the deal providing another $50,000. Et voilà, the 

Brentwood site for the Pacific Branch of the National Home for Disabled 

Volunteer Soldiers was accepted. 

 

“… Land is the basis of all wealth…” 

                                                        
27 Courtesy of Eileen Garrity, RN, Assistant Chief Nurse, Special Projects, Nursing and 

Patient Care Services, VA Greater Los Angeles Health Care System. 
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As early as 1935, Louis E. Mahoney, M.D.28 and several colleagues29 from 

Santa Monica approached His Eminence, John J. Cantwell, Archbishop of 

Los Angeles, to request support in arranging for an appropriate order of 

nuns, who could build and operate a new Catholic hospital in the Santa 

Monica Bay District. Santa Monica’s population on the Westside of Los 

Angeles was expanding rapidly and their request for an additional 

hospital was timely. It took a few years, but Archbishop Cantwell decided 

to contact Mother General Mary Francesca of the Sisters of Charity of 

Leavenworth, Kansas. In 1938, Mother Francesca received the 

Archbishop’s invitation30 to meet and favorably consider the project. After 

a year of correspondence, personal meetings with the physicians and the 

Archbishop, inspection of the property in Santa Monica and many further 

negotiations regarding the financing and construction of the future 

hospital, Mother Mary Francesca accepted the invitation and gave her 

approval to proceed with this venture. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                        
28 With permission of His Eminence Roger Cardinal Mahoney, Archbishop of Los Angeles, 

and His Reverence Mgsr Francis J. Weber, Historian and Archivist of the Chancery 

Archives of Los Angeles, San Fernando Mission, San Fernando, California. 
29 The group probably included: Louis E. Mahoney, M.D.; Herman G. Dobrott, Esq.; 

Clarence G. Hopkirk, M.D.; Richard J. Morrison, M.D., and Joseph Saylin, M.D.  
30 Letters of correspondence held at the archival library of the Archdiocese of Los 

Angeles and the Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth, Kansas. 
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Research at the Chancery Archives 

San Fernando Mission, San Fernando, California 
 

 
Archbishop Roger Mahoney with Dr. Robert Sherins 

 

 
San Fernando Mission 
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San Fernando Mission Church 
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Chancery Library of the Archdiocese of Los Angeles 
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Map of Archdiocese,1859-1922 

 

 
Map of Archdiocese, 1936-1976 
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Msgr. Francis J. Weber, Historian, 

Standing next to copy of Gutenberg Bible 

Chancery Archives, San Fernando Mission 

 

 
Msgr. Francis Weber reviewing research data with Dr. Robert Sherins 
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Dr. Robert Sherins Researching Documents at Chancery Archives 

 

 

 
Dr. Robert S. Sherins 



 

 

 

62 

 

 
Msgr. Weber with Marlene Sherins and Sr. Kathleen Mary, SCL 

Touring Chancery Library 

 
Sr. Maureen Craig, Chancery Library 
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Sr. Maureen Craig, SCL with Marlene Sherins 

San Fernando Mission 
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Sister Kathleen Mary, SCL Assistant Archivist at SCL Motherhouse, Kansas 

Visiting the San Fernando Mission 

 

In the beginning… 
 

According to Sister Julia Gilmore, SCL, author of “Saint John’s and Its 

People,” Western Publishing Company, St. Louis, Los Angeles, Racine, and 

Poughkeepsie, 1967, there was correspondence in 1922 between the 

Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth and His Eminence, John J. Cantwell, 

Archbishop of Los Angeles. The discussion referred to a proposal to build a 

Catholic hospital in Santa Monica. Later on in 1966, Mrs. Marie Moran 

Campbell31, age 94, a sibling of Sister Mary Austin Moran, SCL,32 was 

quoted in a newspaper article33 about the proposed building of the Santa 

Monica hospital. If this date was accurately recalled, it would anti-date 

the personal discussions of Dr. Louis Mahoney’s with the Archbishop in 

                                                        
31 Letter from Mother Mary Francesca acknowledges correspondence with Mrs. Marie 

Campbell in 1938. 
32 Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth Motherhouse in Xavier, Kansas. 
33 Orange, California. 
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1935. Perhaps the Great Depression, which began in 1929, may have 

been a major factor in the delay of the funding and construction of Saint 

John’s Hospital. 

 

 
 

“We Came North34…Thought of opening a house on the Pacific coast 

stemmed from the request (1938) of an executive committee of 

representative doctors of the Santa Monica Bay District through Most Rev-

erend John J. Cantwell, Archbishop of Los Angeles. For sometime it had 

been apparent to members of the medical profession that additional 

hospital facilities should be provided in Santa Monica, California, as a 

survey showed only one Class A hospital there,35 and no children's ward in 

                                                        
34 Sister Julia Gilmore, S.C.L., “We Came North, Centennial Story of the Sister of Charity of 

Leavenworth,” Abbey Press, S. Meinrad, Indiana, 1961. 
35 Santa Monica Hospital, built in 1926 by Doctors William Mortensen and August 

Hromadka. 
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any hospital in the area. After much investigation and discussion the 

committee came to the conclusion that needs could best be met by 

providing the district with a “Sisters' hospital,” because hospitals 

conducted by religious groups are equipped with skillful staffs and 

experienced executives.” 

 

“Twenty years previously Archbishop Cantwell had suggested to Mother 

Irene McGrath and Sister Mary Leontia Gleeson, visitors in Los Angeles, 

that the Community make a foundation there. At that time the suggestion 

could not be considered, as no members were available to staff a 

hospital; neither could the Community afford to build one. However, 

when the request came in 1938, Mother Mary Francesca and her council, 

after deliberation, agreed to extend the works of the Community to the 

west coast, provided the site for a hospital would be debt free and 

financial assistance would be given in the erection of the building, as the 

Community had no funds for such an undertaking. Receiving assurance of 

such assistance, Mother Mary Francesca accompanied by Sister Mary 

Lorian made the trip to Santa Monica to select a site, which doctors of the 

area purchased.” 

 

“A public campaign inaugurated and directed by three committees 

(medical, women's, and civic) brought little in contribution or pledges. 

Constantly and consistently doctors urged that a few Sisters live in Santa 

Monica, thereby indicating interest and intention to build. Sisters Mary 

Corona Harrington and Ann Raymond Downey, in May 1939, were sent to 

look over the situation. Their cordial reception by Archbishop Cantwell, 

Monsignor Nicholas Conneally, pastor of St. Monica's parish, doctors, and 

residents of the area filled them with enthusiasm for the undertaking.” 

 

Mother Mary Francesca, realizing the wisdom of having Sisters in residence 

in Santa Monica, then appointed (June 1939) Sisters Mary Anacleta Flynn 

and Mary Jeannette McAuliffe fundraisers for the new project. Shortly 

after their arrival in Los Angeles (July 13, 1939), they called upon the 

Archbishop, who spoke warmly of the undertaking. Saying he had 

promised the doctors that as soon as they procured the site, he would 

procure Sisters, he smilingly added, They have the site; I have the Sisters. 

Having them gives me supreme pleasure." 

 

“The two Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth, with no convent of their own, 

gratefully accepted the proffered hospitality of the Holy Name Sisters in St. 

Clement's Convent, where they were made to feel like members of the 

community, even having house charges and taking turns filling the places 

of those away on vacation. Later in the summer, the two Sisters of Charity 
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became houseguests of the Holy Name Sisters at St. Monica's Convent. 

With the opening of the new school term and the return of the regular 

Holy Name staff, Sisters Mary Anacleta and Mary Jeannette rented a small 

cottage, which ladies of the parish furnished. They were joined, August 23, 

by Sisters Rose Victor and Mary Corona-the latter the appointed superior. 

Sister Rose Victor, a member of the general council, returned to the 

Mother House upon completion of business matters.” 

 

“Solicitation of financial assistance continued daily, but with little result. 

Usually one of a number of gracious parishioners took the Sisters from 

place to place. These women, interested since their first meeting with the 

Sisters, arranged several raffles and continued to help in various ways, and 

became the nucleus of the hard working, successful Saint John's Hospital 

Guild of Santa Monica, formally organized in 1947. Annually since, this 

Guild has sponsored many benefits for St. John's.” 

 

“The deed to the property for a hospital reached Mother Mary Francesca, 

September 30, 1940. Announcement soon followed of the acceptance by 

California's secretary of state, of the articles of incorporation of Saint 

John's Hospital Association. These articles carried signatures of Mother 

Mary Francesca and Sister Vincent Marie, with the three "collectors," Sisters 

Mary Corona, Mary Anacleta, and Mary Jeannette signing as 

incorporators. Preliminaries cared and actual building began. The Evening 

Outlook, May 18, 1941, reported ground-breaking ceremonies "with 

Mother General Mary Francesca of the Order of the Sisters of Charity of 

Leavenworth, Kansas, actually turning the soil in the ceremonial. 

Construction continued steadily for more than a year…” 
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Negotiations for a Catholic hospital in West Los Angeles36 
 

Documents have been discovered, which indicate that earlier 

conversations about building a Catholic hospital in West Los Angeles had 

been taking place since the 1920s. An article printed in an Orange 

County newspaper, stated that …  The first dated correspondence about 

building the hospital in Santa Monica was in 1940, but in the letter was a 

reference made to the year of 1935, when the first discussions with His 

Eminence, Archbishop Cantwell occurred. From another resource,37 I 

learned that His Eminence, John J. Cantwell, was a cousin of Mother 

Josephine Cantwell, a former Mother General of the Sisters of Charity of 

Leavenworth, Kansas from 1877 - 1904. 

 

Possibly because of the Great Economic Depression after the Stock 

Market Crash of 1929, the building project was postponed. The first of 

many letters of correspondence between Dr. Mahoney, Archbishop John 

J. Cantwell and Mary Francesca, Mother Superior of the Sisters of Charity 

of Leavenworth Kansas began in 1938, as the first testament to the intense 

negotiations among those principals to build a “Sister’s Hospital in Santa 

Monica. 

 

As early as 1935, letters were exchanged between Dr. Louis E. Mahoney, 

the Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth, Kansas, and John J. Cantwell, 

Archbishop of Los Angeles requesting the Archdiocese to support the 

creation of a Catholic hospital in Santa Monica. Dr. Mahoney engaged 

two additional physician colleagues and an attorney to purchase on their 

own signatures appropriate land in Santa Monica to build such a hospital. 

The contributors were: Louis E. Mahoney, MD; Richard J. Morrison, MD: 

Joseph P Saylin, MD; and Herman Dobrott, Esq. Without any written 

commitments from the Archbishop nor any nursing order of nuns 

dedicated to such a project, Dr. Mahoney and colleagues invested 

$20,000 for a loan to purchased the site of the Golden State Plant and 

Floral Company at Santa Monica Blvd. and 20th Street in Santa Monica. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                        
36Sister Maureen Craig, SCL, Saint John’s Health Center, 2010 -. 
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Stated in the news article: “Marie [Campbell], whose sister, Sister Mary 

Austin Moran, is now at the Motherhouse of the Sister’s of Charity of 

Leavenworth in Kansas, wrote to the then Mother General, stating the 

need [for a new Catholic hospital in Santa Monica]. Subsequently, she 

arranged a meeting between the Mother General and Archbishop 

Cantwell. Until arrangements were finalized for the Sisters to staff what 
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would become Saint John’s Hospital, Marie kept the Kansas visitors [Sisters] 

at her home.” 

From the “History of the Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth:” 

 

“The unique histories of hospitals now, sponsored by the Sisters of 

Charity of Leavenworth are the shared story of hundreds of sisters and 

thousands of lay people collaborating in the mission of healing. 

However sophisticated the technology and administration, the story of 

this mission is one of self-gift and heroic determination. Names from the 

past mark the record; they symbolize a heritage that stands as challenge 

for a future of collaboration and consolidation in forms emerging by the 

decade. Mother Josephine Cantwell, third major superior of the 

Community from 1877 to 1886, governed at a time of enormous debt, 

when hospitals in Leadville, Colorado, and Butte and Anaconda, 

Montana, were needed. Nevertheless, as Sister Mary Carol Conroy 

observed in a historical account, her administration brought "a tradition 

of stability to the community not previously experienced." Her name 

marks Cantwell Hall, first location of the Sisters of Charity of 

Leavenworth/Health Services Corporation.38 

Louis E. Mahoney, M.D. 
 

In 1940, Dr. Mahoney wrote to Mary Francesca, 

Mother General of the Order of Nuns, the Sisters 

of Charity of Leavenworth, Kansas, and referred 

to his past discussions with Archbishop Cantwell 

requesting support for the idea of building a new 

Catholic hospital: “Practically five years have 

elapsed since we doctors approached His 

Excellency, Archbishop Cantwell, and received 

his promise to select an order of nuns who would 

                                                        
38 Mother General Josephine Cantwell served three consecutive terms from 1877.z 
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build and operate an hospital in the Santa Monica Bay District.” 

 

 
Verification of the Request for a Catholic Hospital in Santa Monica, 

Circa 1935 
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Dr. Mahoney wrote to Mother Mary Francesca, SCL to request details of 

their commitment to build the “Sisters Hospital” and submit plans for the 

construction. This was needed to proceed with fund raising to repay the 

doctor’s investment of $20,000 for the land and for expected construction 

costs of the facilities. 

 

In our 21st century vernacular, Mother Francesca gave her approval to 

seek the necessary venture capital for construction of the new “Sisters 

Hospital” – as the name was originally conceived. That venture was linked 

to certain economic risks in the overall economy of America following the 

devastation wrought by the Great Depression. In addition, the Sisters 

already were committed to several rebuilding projects in Helena, 

Montana, which was destroyed within 24-hours by a powerful earthquake 

in 1938. The ruined buildings that were owned and managed by the Sisters 

of Charity of Leavenworth included: St. John’s Hospital, St. Joseph’s 

Orphanage, three elementary schools, St. Vincent’s High School 

Academy for girls, and Catholic High School. At the same time the Sisters 

were upgrading Mary’s Hospital in Grand Junction, Colorado. 
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Dr. Mahoney, his colleagues, and Archbishop Cantwell were all 

convinced that the medical community would support a new Catholic 

hospital in Santa Monica and that they could obtain the necessary 

financing. Estimates of the rate of population growth, the maximum 

number of medical beds available in the area, and the need for an 

immediate increase in hospital capacity mitigated well for their decision 

to proceed. In 1926, the first hospital39 in Santa Monica was built by Dr. 

William Mortensen and Dr. August Hromadka. Their construction was 

financed by a $50,000 loan provided by the Santa Monica Bank, which 

had the support of the bank’s first president, Aubrey Austin, Sr. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Lt to Rt: William Mortensen, MD; August Hromadka, MD 

 

                                                        
39 Santa Monica Hospital, 15th Street and Santa Monica Blvd., Santa Monica, California. 
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Santa Monica Hospital, Circa 1926 

LAPL.org/00071881.jpg 

 

At the time, Los Angeles was expanding with both economic prospects 

and the necessary population of new employees to be hired for those 

jobs. By 1935, the following economic opportunities were either 

accomplished or nearly completed: Los Angeles basin flood control 

projects of both the Los Angeles and San Gabriel Rivers - totaling $100 

million; concrete lining of the Ballona Creek for stabilization of the flood 

waters flowing into the Pacific Ocean – built by the Army Corps of 

Engineers; the Los Angeles Aqueduct from the Colorado River had been 

completed in 1932; completion of the Hoover Dam project to control 

flooding of the Colorado River and produce hydro-electric power for 

Southern California; the promotion of a future high-speed freeway system 

in Los Angeles by the Automobile Club of Southern California that was 

estimated would cost the taxpayers $400 million; and the fact that Los 

Angeles was the second largest producer of rubber – after Akron, Ohio, 

and had the second highest automobile production in the nation, second 

only to Detroit, Michigan. Los Angeles ranked sufficiently high to have 

been chosen for the 1932 World Summer Olympic competitions, which 

were held in the newly completed LA Sports Coliseum that was the basis 

of the renaming of “Olympic” boulevard. The Donald Douglas Aircraft 
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Company had become the largest producer of airplanes in the nation 

with an enlarging work force of several thousand employees; they were 

building the famous DC-3 in Santa Monica. The Griffith Park Observatory 

became operational and was opened to the public in 1935. 

 

At the same time there were serious unresolved issues remaining in the 

general economy that had been created in the aftermath of the Great 

Depression – the bank closures, commercial bankruptcies, and 

subsequent massive unemployment that began in 1929. Many of the 

businesses did not become viable again until World War II. 

 

In 1935, President Franklin D. Roosevelt signed the first Social Security Bill 

that appropriated massive financing for the sick, elderly, and unemployed 

citizens. U.S. Savings bonds were issued, and President Roosevelt 

purchased the first bonds to set an example of his personal confidence in 

the banking system. In addition, there were serious concerns about the 

many dangerous International military confrontations that were looming 

over both Europe and Asia. Japanese military troops had just marched 

into Beijing, China; Mussolini had sent his Italian troops into Ethiopia; and 

the Germans re-introduced military conscription, created a large military 

air force called the Luftwaffe, and made the emblem of the “Swastika” 

part of their national flag. 

 

Mother General Mary Francesca and the executive officers of the Sisters 

of Charity of Leavenworth made a huge effort to understand the 

problems entailed in building a new hospital that was located at such a 

great distance from them (distance from Leavenworth, Kansas, to Santa 

Monica). They embarked on the project during lean economic times, but 

they became confident of full support from both the Archbishop of Los 

Angeles and the loyal physicians who would share the responsibilities. 
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Mother General, Mary Francesca O’Shea, SCL 

 

 

 

History of the Land Purchased for the Sisters Hospital 
 

 
Cadastral Map of Golden State Plant & Floral Co., Circa 1910 

21st Street & Santa Monica Blvd., Santa Monica, California 
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Aerial Map of Golden State Plant & Floral Co. 

Santa Monica Blvd & 21st Street, Santa Monica, Circa 1912 

(Courtesy of the Santa Monica Public Library) 
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Business Directory Advertisement in Santa Monica Business Directory, 

Circa 1910 
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[Excerpted and Quoted] Guinn, James Miller: “A History of California and 

an Extended History of Los Angeles … “ 1915. 
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From: Santa Monica City Directory, 1907 
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Golden State Palnt & Floral Co. Advertisement 

Santa Monica City Directory 1913 
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Cadastral Map of Golden State Plant & Floral Co., Santa Monica 

McKinley School on 20th Street Outlined with Green Marquee 

 

 
McKinley School, 20th Street and Arizona, Santa Monica, Circa 192040 

                                                        
40 Santa Monica Public Library digital images, A434, #244204211. 
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Students in Class, McKinley School, Circa 191141 

 

 

 
Kindergarten Class 

McKinley Elementary School, 20th Street, Santa Monica, California 

April 14, 192042 

                                                        
41 Santa Monica Public Library digital images, Cen 39,  #1132, Image 039. Connie Cramer 

Collection. 
42 Santa Monica Public Library digital images. 
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Archbishop Cantwell reply in support the hospital project and with 

recognition of 50-physicians ready to help (financially) – October 3, 1939. 
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Letter from Mother General Mary Francesca to Archbishop Cantwell 

Promising to expedite construction plans for the hospital, seek permission 

from the Vatican for securing financing and to send a delegation of Sisters 

to Santa Monica to coordinate the construction of the new hospital, 

March 6, 1939. 
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Mother General, Mary Francesca, S.C.L 

Accepts Responsibility to Build the “Sister’s Hospital” 
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Letter from Dr. Mahoney to Mother Mary Francesca 

Outlining Visit by Sr. Ann Raymond & the Need for Fund Raising Efforts 
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A group of Sisters arrived in Santa Monica to assist in the fund raising 

campaign to build the Sisters Hospital. 
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Signatures of the Doctor’s Group 

Purchase of the Lot 13, Block 3 of the Orchard Tract, 

Santa Monica, California, January 3rd, 1940 



 

 

 

95 

 

Notarized Grant Deed, December 30, 1940. 

Purchase of Santa Monica Lot for Future Saint John’s Hospital. 
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Plot Map of Saint john’s Future Campus, 

Lot 13, Block 3, Orchard Tract, Santa Monica, California 
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Cadastral Plot Map - Orchard Tract, 1900. 
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Land Title: Golden State Plant & Floral Company, 1938 

Sellers: Charles Raymond and Persia Leamer Wilson 

Santa Monica, California 
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Letter from Mother Mary Francesca, April 11, 1941 

New Name of Saint John’s Hospital; Construction Cost Estimates Excessive 

Causing Plan to Reduce Size of Hospital and/or Delay Onset 
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Auxilliary Bishop, Joseph T. McGuchen Declares that the U.S. Government 

Has Provided Saint John’s Hospital with a Grant of $40,000 for Construction 

Assistance to Provide for Hospital Beds for the Employees of the Douglas 

Aircraft Company in Santa Monica – October 6, 1942. 
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The Douglas Aircraft Company Plant, 1920 

Chelsea & Wilshire Blvd., Santa Monica, California 
(Santa Monica Public Library Digital Archives: 13/0434/0025/143399911) 

 

 
The Douglas Aircraft Co. Plant, Circa 1925 

Chelsea & Wilshire Blvd., Santa Monica, California 
(Santa Monica Public Library Digital Archives: 119/0434/042/144511908) 
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Plane Fabrication at Douglas Aircraft Co. 

Chelsea & Wilshire Blvd, Santa Monica, California, Circa 1920 
(Santa Monica Public Library Digital Archives: 0434/028/143400002) 
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First Sisters Staff & Board Members of Saint John’s Hospital, October 1942. 

 

(Lt to Rt) 

Front Row: Sr. Mary Imaculata Desmond, Mother Mary Francesca O’Shea, 

Sr. Mary Lorian Degan, Sr. Ann Bernard Anderson. 

 

Row #2: Sr. Vincent Marie Berry, Sr. Mary Corona Harrington, Sr. Mary 

Eunice Murphy, Sr. Mary Hypatia Coughlin, Sr. Agnes Cecilia Fennelly. 

 

Row #3: Sr. Ann Leonard Bestgen, Sr. Margaret Alocoque Crowley, Sr. 

Mary Damian Harnett, Sr. Louise de Marillac Blain, Sr. Mary Domitila Breen, 

Sr. Mary Bernard Knipscher. 
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Saint John’s Hospital By-Laws, April 3, 1940 
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Saint John’s Hospital Campaign Executive “Doctors Committee” 
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Douglas Aircraft Pledges Support to Saint John’s Hospital, April 19, 1941 
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His Eminence, Archbishop Cantwell Gift of $1,000 to Saint John’s Hospital 

In Appreciation, February 14, 1942 
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Hon. Culbert L. Olson 

Governor, State of California 

1939-1942 

 

 

 

Governor Culbert L. Olson was instrumental in obtaining scare 

construction materials for the building of Saint John’s Hospital. 

 

In 1942, Californians elected a new governor. During a campaign played 

out against a background of war in Europe and the Pacific, incumbent 

Democrat Culbert Olson offered a lackluster accounting of his record, 

while Republican Attorney General Earl Warren drove home the need for 

a decisive and coordinated defense plan for the state. California had 

changed greatly in the four years since Olson was first elected, and 

Californians wanted a change in leadership. They chose Warren. 
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Archbishop Acknowledges Federal Grant of $40,0000, May 7, 1942. 
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Ground Breaking Ceremony, 1941 

Lt to Rt: 

Msgr. O’Dwyer, Herman Dobrott, Esq., Sr. Mary Hypatia, Luigi Pozzo, 

Mother Mary Francesca, Msgr. Nicholas Kennelly of Santa Monica Parish, 

Mrs. Henry E. Mahood, Mr. Loveless (Architect), Sr. Vincent Marie, Richard 

J. Morrison, MD, Louis Mahoney, MD, C.C. Hopkirk, MD and J. Saylin, MD. 
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Building the Foundation for Saint John’s Hospital 

14 July 1941 

 

 
Framing of 1st Floor of Hospital: Loveless Architect; Pozzo Construction. 
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Sister Mary Hypatia Coughlin, SCL, Inspecting Construction, 1941. 
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Vigilant Construction Oversight by Sr. Mary Hypatia Coughlin, 1941. 

 

 
Reinforced Concrete Outer Walls and Floors. 
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Saint John’s Hospital Completed in October1942 

Former Nursery Field in Foreground. 
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Front Entrance Saint John’s Hospital, 1942 

 

 
Saint John’s Hospital Entrance on 22nd Street, 1942. 
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View of Hospital Entrance, 22nd Street, 1942. 

 

 
His Eminence, John J. Cantwell, Archbishop of Los Angeles 

Dedication of the New Saint John’s Hospital, October 1942. 
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His Eminence, John J. Cantwell, Archbishop of Los Angeles 

Blessing of Saint John’s Hospital Cornerstone, 1942 
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News Clipping of the Santa Monica Outlook Newspaper 
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Saint John’s Hospital, Open House, October 19, 1942. 
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Original Entry Lobby, Saint John’s Hospital 

Sister’s Convent Located at the Rear of the Long Hallway. 1942. 
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Bassinets in Newborn Nursery. 
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Artist, Richard W. Jung’s Commission to Create Statue of St. John 

March 23, 1943. 
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Delivery of Completed Statue of St. John 
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Polychrome Statue of St. John, Completed in 1943 
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Rev. John Brennan, First Chaplain Serving Saint John’s Hospital 

October 27, 1942 

 

 

 



 

 

 

136 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Saint John’s Hospital 

By-Laws, 1940 
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Saint John’s Health Center 

Articles of Incorporation, 1940 
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Ramsey Military Academy, 20th Street and Arizona Avenue. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

155 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Architectural Map of Ramsey and Adjoining Property, 1959. 
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Letter from Sr. Mary David,  

$20,000 Payment on Load of $70,000 for Ramsey Property 
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Development of the North Wing, Saint John’s Hospital 
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Saint John’s Hospital, North Wing, 1949 
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1950s 
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Saint John’s Hospital, Dedication of North Wing, 1949 
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Saint John’s Hospital Guild 
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Laundry Room, 1950 

 

 

 
Volunteers Sewing Sheets, 1950 
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Staff Relaxation on Roof Top, 1960 
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SJH Dedication South-Wing, 1967 
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View from Santa Monica Blvd.,1967 
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Les Holve, M.D., Director of the Cleft Pallate Clinic 

Native Sons of the Golden West, Sponsors 
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North Wing, Nurses Charting Area - 1952 

 

 
Physical Therapy Unit - 1952 
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Waiting Room – North Wing, 1954 

 

 
Switchboard Operators 
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Dr. Thomas Havel, Chief Radiology Department, 1952 

 

 
Radiology Room 
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Record Room 1952 

 

 
South Parking Area,1958 
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Rose Cafe 

 

 
South Wing Addition - 1967 
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Sr. Marie Madeleine and Sr. Mildred Irwin (aka Mary David) 
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Ramsey Military Academy 

20th Street, Santa Monica, California 

 
 

 
View from the West of Ramsey Military Academy, 1315 20th Street. 
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In 1959, Archbishop Cantwell endorsed a loan of $70,000 to the Sisters of 

Charity of Leavenworth, which provided the necessary funds to purchase 

the property of the Ramsey Military Academy located at 1315 20th Street 

adjacent and west of Saint John’s Hospital. The property along 20th Street, 

inclusive from Santa Monica Blvd to Arizona Avenue, housed the military 

academy was owner by Major Ralph M. Ramsey, who also served as 

head-master. 

 

Title to the property was transferred to the Archdiocese of Los Angeles. 

The loan was guaranteed by the Archdiocese. Sister Mary David, SCL, 

Administrator of Saint John’s Hospital, took charge of the development of 

the property and paid-off the loans over a several year period. Later on, 

the hospital constructed two office buildings for physicians at 2021 Santa 

Monica Blvd and later at 2001 Santa Monica Blvd, which included much 

needed parking. In 1959, with seed funding for construction from Ethel 

Kennedy, the Lt. Joseph Kennedy School for learning disabilities was built. 

Finally, in 1987, the Saint John’s Medical Plaza was constructed at 1301 

20th Street and Arizona Avenue. 
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Architectural Development Map of Property on 20th Street, 1959. 
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Letter from Ralph M. Ramsey to His Eminence, 

Cardinal James Francis McIntyre, February 12, 1960. 
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Letter from Sister Mary David; Loan Payment March 29, 1960 
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Post Graduate Assembly – Staff Seminars 

Established in 1949 
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Robert Fredricks, MD 

 

 
Leonard Montag, MD 



 

 

 

201 

 
Doctors Leonard Montag and Charles Kruse 

 

 

 
Jaime Paris, MD 
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John Eagan, MD, Archbishop Cantwell, Sr.  
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Origin of the Saint John’s Child Study Center 
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Archbishop John Cantwell With Mrs. Ethel Kennedy 
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Hon. Ronald Reagan, Sr. Marie Madeleine, SCL, Evis Coda, MD 

 

 
Hon. Ronald Reagan at Kennedy School 
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Cardinal Timothy Manning, Archbishop of Los Angeles, 1976 
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KENNEDY CHILD STUDY CENTER 

DOCUMENTS 

 

 



 

 

 

208 

 

 

 
 



 

 

 

209 

 
 

 

 

 



 

 

 

210 

 
 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

211 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Saint John’s Medical Staff, Circa1940 -1950 

 

GALLERY 
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Alex Glyn-Davies 
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Douglas Forde, M.D. 
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Thomas Havel, M.D. 
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Teresa McNeal, M.D. 

SJHC House Doctor 
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William Trumbull, M.D. 
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Herman A. Zampetti, M.D. 
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Saint John’s Health Center 

Medical Staff Officers 

 

 
Back Row: Thomas Havel, MD, Britt Dalby, MD; Blake Watson, MD 

Front Row: James McEachen, MD; John Eagan, MD; George Hummer, MD 
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Back: Bruce Rolf, MD; Leon Shulman, MD 

Front: Andy Smatko, MD; Ray Duckworth, MD; William Ross, MD; and Blake 

Watson, MD 

 

 
Lt to Rt: 

Back: Britt Dalby, MD; John Roberts, MD; George Packer, MD; and Rod 

Smith, MD; Les Holve, MD; Blake Watson, MD and Leon Shulman, MD 

 

Front: Ben Edwards, MD; Don Burke, MD; Bill Ross, MD; Charles Sturdevant, 

MD: John Eagan, MD and Beatty Ramsey, MD 
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Phillip Rossman, MD; Norman Rudy, MD; George Hummer, Unknown; Dana 

Badley, MD; Marvin Mack, MD 
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Lt to Rt: Rodney Smith, MD; Unknown: John McGonigle, MD; Thomas Reed, 

MD; Unknown; Blake Watson, MD: William Ross, MD; George Packer, MD 

 

 
William Hummer, MD; Tom Reed, MD; Tom Heric, MD; George Cobley, MD 
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Lt to Rt: Blake Watson, MD; Norman Rudy, MD; William Ross, MD; Unknown; 

Bruce Rolf, MD; Donald Burke, MD; George Packer, MD; 

Rodney Smith, MD; John Roberts, MD; Britt Dalby, MD; 

John Eagan, MD; Les Holve, MD; Thomas Havel, MD; George Hummer, MD 

 

 
Chemical Dependency Committee 

Unknown; Sister Marie Madeleine, SCL; Carl Zabia, MD; Unknown 



 

 

 

224 

 

Lt to Rt: William Trumbull, MD; Beatty Ramsey, MD; Jack Richards, MD; and 

Mason Hohl, MD 
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Mason Hohl, M.D. 

1973 
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George Cobley, M.D. 

1974 
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Dental Clinic Awards 

1974 
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Melvin Richards, M.D. 

1977 
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Philip Rossman, MD 

1981 
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Oscar Thomsen, M.D. 

1981 
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Gareth Wootton, M.D. 

Novelist 1981 
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ADDENDUM 
 

History of the Medical Staff 

Saint John’s Health Center 1942-1992 

Saint John’s Health Center Foundation 
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